FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/18/2023 10:48 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102485-1

No. 83566-1

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARK MCDONALD, an individual,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL STERN and EMMA STERN, a married couple,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sidney C. Tribe, WSBA No. 33160 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: (206) 622-8020

Attorneys for Petitioners

III.	ISSUES FOR REVIEW			
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
V.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 11			
	A.	The Court of Appeals' decision does not simply conflict with prior decisions of this Court regarding the duties of surveyors and courts in boundary disputes. It allows surveyors to alter property lines by fiat. It should be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)(1)		
	B.	The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with precedent from another Division holding that even if there is evidence the original monument has moved, unlike here, the surveyor must still work to ascertain the original boundary and may not simply disregard evidence of the original line. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2)		
	C.	Because of the potential constitutional implications for every property owner, both public and private, individual and institutional, this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4)		
VI.	CO	NCLUSION23		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)			
Washington Cases			
Kelley v. Falangus, 63 Wn.2d 581, 388 P.2d 223 (1964)			
Newport Yacht Basin Ass'n of Condo. Owners v. Supreme Nw., Inc., 168 Wn. App. 56, 277 P.3d 18 (2012)			
Rinehold v. Renne, 198 Wn.2d 81, 492 P.3d 154 (2021)			
Staaf v. Bilder, 68 Wn.2d 800, 415 P.2d 650 (1966)passim			
<i>Thein v. Burrows</i> , 13 Wn. App. 761, 537 P.2d 1064 (1975) passim			
<i>Thompson v. Schlittenhart,</i> 47 Wn. App. 209, 734 P.2d 48 (1987) 10, 12			
<i>Turner v. Creech, a</i> 58 Wash. 439, 108 P. 1084 (1910)			
Zunino v. Rajewski, 140 Wn. App. 215, 165 P.3d 57 (2007)			
Constitutional Provisions, Statutes and Court Rules			
RAP 13.4(b)(1)			
RAP 13.4(b)(2)			
RAP 13.4(b)(3)			
RAP 13.4(b)(4)			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

	Page(s)
Washington Constitution,	
Art. 1, § 16 (amendment 9))22

I. INTRODUCTION

Theft of real property by private parties through use of erroneous "resurveys" that alter established boundaries is a problem of constitutional magnitude. Rights in real property are protected by both the Washington and United States Constitutions. For this reason, this Court and the Court of Appeals have historically applied to strict standards to how property surveys are conducted and how courts must evaluate that evidence.

This issue is so important that this Court does not afford the trial court the usual latitude in weighing and selecting which evidence to credit. Instead, this Court has taken the extraordinary step of establishing precedent that tells lower courts which kinds of evidence *must* be weighed more heavily than others.

The Court of Appeals here ignored these principles and now allows surveyors and courts to simply change deeded boundary lines by fiat, regardless of whether the survey at issue was conducted according to law. This has the potential to wreak

havoc with property law and sanction the alteration of boundaries by unscrupulous parties. Boundary disputes and real property theft could metastasize.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION

Appellants Michael and Emma Stern seek review of the published decision in *Stern v. McDonald*, No. 83566-1 dated July 24, 2023 (attached as Appendix A). The Court of Appeals granted Stern's motion to publish on September 27, 2023.

III. ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- 1. According to both this Court and the Court of Appeals precedent, a boundary surveyor must seek to establish the original, historically correct property line based on the original plat grantor's intent and the deed language, not create a new line based on modern surveys or recently installed structures. Does the Court of Appeals opinion conflict with this precedent by allowing surveyors to ignore the best evidence of original intent, deed lines, and older monuments?
- 2. Should surveyors and courts be permitted to take property by simply re-drawing the deeded boundary lines when the case does not raise an equitable claim to transfer the property?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael and Emma Stern have lived in their house on Mercer Island since 2003. RP 444. In between his house and his neighbor's house to the south is a line of trees and some hedges. Ex. 103. In 2015, Mark McDonald acquired the \$1.9 million house to the Sterns' south in what McDonald called a "swap" for his own \$1 million Seattle home plus \$900,000 cash.

Almost immediately, McDonald took issue with much of Stern's behavior, both with respect to his property but also was uncomfortable with Stern personally. RP 215-217. He was particularly angered by Stern trimming branches off of the trees between the properties, which he said sometimes included branches that were on his side of the property. RP 219.

On March 27, 2020, McDonald initiated a lawsuit against Stern. CP 1. In addition to timber trespass claims, McDonald claimed that Stern had damaged fences between the two properties that McDonald claimed were within his property's boundary. CP 107-109. Because Stern believed that the fences

were on Stern's property, McDonald also sought to quiet title and establish the correct boundary between the two parcels.

The area encompassing the land at issue was first surveyed by the government in the 19th century, and boundary lines were established under the name "Government Lot 2." RP 790. It was further short platted in 1980. RP 646. The McDonald property lies on the "Hobbs" short plat. *Id*. The Stern property lies on the "Barsher" short plat. *Id*.

During trial, each party presented expert testimony from surveyors and documents explaining their methods and conclusions. RP 631-687 (McDonald's expert), RP 782-884 (Stern's expert). McDonald's expert was Edwin Green, Stern's was Trevor Lanktree. *Id*.

The two surveyors used different methodologies and each reached different conclusions about the boundary between the two properties. RP 631-687, RP 782-884; compare Ex. 103 to Ex. 56.

McDonald's expert, Green, admitted that he was unable to find historical government markers and instead relied on a 2007 survey and the location of structures - Stern's house, McDonald's garage, and "existing fences" – to establish that his boundary line was correct. RP 651-652, 657-659. He also admitted that his research only went back as far as the short platting of the two areas that occurred in 1980. RP 646. He stated that the "intent" of the short platters in 1980 would have been to maintain 40 feet of waterfront for each property, to ensure that the owners would be able to build a dock. RP 659-660. Green also testified that he relied on subsequent modern surveys including his own company's survey conducted in 2007, the "Terrane" survey. RP 650. When McDonald asked his expert why his survey should be accepted over Lanktree's, he stated:

Because my -- my determination of -- of the common line in between Mr. Stern's and Mr. McDonald's, which is -- also directly affects the determination of the other lines within the short plat, agrees with existing corners, occupation. As

we say, occupation is fences, houses that have been acquiesced and used as determining what their boundary is for over 40 years.

RP 676 (emphasis added). Green also dismissed the Lanktree survey, calling it "purely theoretical and is -- is based upon the legal description, but totally does not take into consideration existing corners, and, in particular, intent, intent." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Green summarized his opinion thus:

And our opinion is, is that the location of that fence and the corners and the house and everything is -- is -- should be the final determination as to where the property line is.

RP 677.

Stern's expert surveyor, Lanktree, dug deep – both literally into the soil and figuratively into the historical record. Rather than simply presume that modern surveys were correct, or that fences, houses, and garages proved the location of the legal boundary, he started with the boundaries established in the original 19th century government survey of the area,

Government Lot 2. RP 790, 816. Government Lot 2 is recited in the legal description of the Barsher and Hobbs short plats; and the north line of Government Lot 2 is "a key line to establish the boundaries on many properties within" the neighborhood. *Id*.

Lanktree, like Green, believed that structures such as fences could be significant supporting evidence for where the true boundary line exists. RP 794. However, unlike Green, Lanktree found an older fence post bracket drilled into a rock where his boundary line was drawn. *Id.* McDonald had built his new cedar fence well to the south of this older, abandoned bracket (circled in red):



Ex. 119. Lanktree noted that when a surveyor is attempting to establish the true, original boundary line, "old fences are possibly even more significant than new fences" because they are historical evidence reaching back farther than the more modern structures. RP 794.

Lanktree's team also uncovered the Government Lot 2 monument, which over decades had become buried three feet in the ground. RP 803. Although the monument itself was not the original 19th century marker when Government Lot 2 was first surveyed, it would have replaced that original marker in the same location. RP 816.

Having found original government historical markers and older physical evidence such as the fence bracket, Lanktree calculated the boundaries using the legal descriptions of the properties. His survey established the boundary line of the property slightly to the south of the chain link fence, meaning that the fence was actually on Stern's property. RP 792-793; Ex. 103.

When asked on cross-examination if he questioned why his line did not conform to the more modern monuments and survey markers that Terrane relied upon, Lanktree explained that his line comported with the legal descriptions and that drawing the line near the modern monuments would create deficiencies in the surrounding properties' legal descriptions. RP 823-824. He also stated that his line showed "age consistency" with older monuments found, but ignored, by the Barsher short plat surveyors. RP 822-823.

After the trial, the trial court accepted Green's survey (the Terrane survey) and quieted title in favor of McDonald's claimed boundary line. CP 1192. The court entered no findings of fact or conclusions of law.

On appeal, Stern argued *inter alia* that the trial court's acceptance of the Terrane survey contradicted prior precedent of both this Court and the Court of Appeals. Stern contended that the trial court abused its discretion in accepting McDonald's survey. App. Br. 21-27. He noted that the law requires title to

be quieted based on the original plat grantor's intent and the deed language; courts may not take a party's property using modern surveys or recently installed structures. *Id.* He contended Lanktree established the legal line from the platting of Government Lot 2. *Id.*, citing *inter alia Rinehold v. Renne*, 198 Wn.2d 81, 91, 492 P.3d 154 (2021), *Staaf v. Bilder*, 68 Wn.2d 800, 803, 415 P.2d 650 (1966); and *Thein v. Burrows*, 13 Wn. App. 761, 763, 537 P.2d 1064 (1975). He also noted that when a boundary is uncertain, trial courts should establish it "by the best evidence available." *Thompson v. Schlittenhart*, 47 Wn. App. 209, 212, 734 P.2d 48 (1987).

The Court of Appeals ruled that the trial court had discretion to accept the Terrane survey and concluded that even if that survey failed to ascertain the original boundary line, the trial court was empowered under principles of equity to move the line. Slip Op. at 8-11.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court of Appeals' decision does not simply conflict with prior decisions of this Court regarding the duties of surveyors and courts in boundary disputes. It allows surveyors to alter property lines by fiat. It should be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

This Court has long held that boundary surveyors are obligated to locate the original intended lines as stated in the deed using the "best evidence" available of that original line. The Court of Appeals rejected that rule and now allows modern resurveys to move the original line.

"[D]eeds are construed to give effect to the intentions of the parties, and particular attention is given to the intent of the grantor when discerning the meaning of the entire document.'" Newport Yacht Basin Ass'n of Condo. Owners v. Supreme Nw., Inc., 168 Wn. App. 56, 64, 277 P.3d 18 (2012) (quoting Zunino v. Rajewski, 140 Wn. App. 215, 222, 165 P.3d 57 (2007)).

The same rules that apply to discerning the parties' intent as expressed in a deed's language also apply in determining the grantor's intent to find the location of a boundary established in that deed. See *Thompson v. Schlittenhart*, 47 Wn. App. 209, 212, 734 P.2d 48 (1987). The primary issue is the grantor's intent. *Id.* The focus is on the language of the deed, but when necessary courts may look to the circumstances surrounding the entire transaction. *Id.* And courts can determine an uncertain boundary "by the best evidence available." *Id.*

The main purpose of a resurvey is to rediscover the boundaries according to the plat upon the best evidence obtainable and to retrace the boundary lines as originally platted. *Staaf v. Bilder*, 68 Wn.2d 800, 803, 415 P.2d 650 (1966). Where the discrepancies concerning the true boundaries between parcels that have arisen from the passage of time, "the question to be answered is not where new and modern survey methods will place the boundaries, but where did the original plat locate them." *Id.* The intent of current surveyors should be to ascertain where the original surveyors placed the boundaries. *Thein v. Burrows*, 13 Wn. App. 761, 763, 537 P.2d 1064 (1975).

Although it is not common for this Court to announce that one type of evidence must be favored over the other, the issue of property boundary survey methods is different. *Reinhold*, 198 Wn.2d at 92. In these cases, monuments and markers of the original intended plat take precedence over those later established:

Effort should be made to locate the original corners. Despite discrepancies in the original plat, the known monuments and boundaries of the original plat take precedence over other evidence and are of greater weight than other evidence of the boundaries not based on the original monuments and boundaries.

Id., quoting Staaf, 68 Wn.2d at 803.

In *Reinhold*, a common grantor subdivided his property and created the shared boundary between two parcels. *Reinhold*, 198 Wn.2d at 83-84. The legal description for one parcel referenced a "road-way" as an artificial monument. *Id*. This parcel was later conveyed to a new owner. When a dispute arose, both parties agreed that the common grantor drew the boundary but disputed whether a modern survey accurately reflected that

intent. *Id.* at 87-88. In particular, the original surveyor and platter had stated the width of the roadway at 42 feet, but the modern surveyor stated it was 52 feet without explanation of the discrepancy. *Id.* Other evidence suggested that the original grantor's intent was other than what was stated in the modern survey. *Id.* at 89. This Court reversed partial summary judgment because the trial court erroneously credited the modern survey. *Id.* at 96. Instead, the Court said the trial court must examine older evidence of where the original common grantor intended the line to be. *Id. Rinehold* emphasized that the main purpose of surveys was to retrace the original boundary lines using the best evidence of that original line. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals here declined to follow *Rinehold*'s holding that known monuments and boundaries of the original surveyors is the "best evidence" and takes precedence over other evidence. *Rinehold*, 198 Wn.2d at 91-92.

Here, it was undisputed that the 1860's-era government survey established the line in question. However, the Court of

Appeals upheld the trial court's decision to reject the survey that relied on the older monumentation of the original line. Slip op. 9-10. It instead favored modern surveying and modern landmarks, arguing that the older monumentation was a replacement of the original monumentation in the same location. This ruling contradicts this Court's decisions in *Staaf* and *Reinhold* regarding the precedence that older monumentation takes. This Court explained that in such a circumstance, trial courts may instead favor the survey based on the "totality of the 'best evidence obtainable." This is a departure from this Court's precedent.

The Court of Appeals also ruled that *Staaf* permits a platter to alter the location of a government survey line by simply drawing it in the wrong place on the plat. Slip op. at 10. Again,

The Court of Appeals cited the principles that apply in cases where the original monument is "lost or obliterated." Slip op. 8-9. That is not the case here. The original monument was not "lost" it was replaced in its same location by a marker that still constituted a far older monument than any of the modern markers

PETITION FOR REVIEW 15

set down by Barsher and Hobbs.

there was no dispute that the line upon which both Barsher and Hobbs relied was the Government Lot 2 survey line, which was established in the 1860s. The deed line is referred to as the Government Lot 2 line for both parcels. Yet the Court of Appeals concluded that the Barsher and Hobbs resurveys of the Government Lot 2 line controlled over evidence of the actual deed line.

The Court of Appeals decision also modifies the rule laid down in *Staaf*, that "the intent of the new survey should be to ascertain where the original surveyors placed the boundaries rather than to determine where new and modern surveys would place them." *Staaf*, 68 Wn.2d at 803. The opinion explains that this rule does not apply to surveyors in cases where a resurvey incorrectly placed the line and subsequent property owners acted upon that mistaken survey. Slip op. 10, citing *Turner v. Creech*, 58 Wash. 439, 108 P. 1084 (1910).

However, in *Turner*, the line in question was drawn *and* recognized by a common grantor, so the result in that case turned

on the fact that the common grantor's intent was for the line to be where the parties believed it to be, rather than where a technical survey would place it. *Turner*, 58 Wash. At 444. Here, the opposite is true: the original line was drawn by the government surveyors and was not created by a common grantor. Any Barsher and Hobbs markers were the result of a resurvey of the Government's Line. Barsher and Hobbs "intent" is irrelevant because they did not establish the Government Lot 2 line in the first instance.

There is a reason why this Court has longstanding and particular rules about the duty of surveyors to use older monuments and the best evidence of original lines to establish boundaries. This Courts precedent stands in stark contrast with the new Court of Appeals, which is an excellent method of creating chaos in property law. It would allow developers to simply steal land by putting down new survey markers and monuments during the platting process that contradict previously drawn lines, ignoring older monumentation and evidence. Then,

when unknowing parties "acquiesce" in the developers' erroneous line, the developer has successfully stolen land that cannot be recovered by the rightful owner. This Court should take review to prevent this alteration of its well-established principles.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with precedent from another Division holding that even if there is evidence the original monument has moved, unlike here, the surveyor must still work to ascertain the original boundary and may not simply disregard evidence of the original line. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

As Division Two of the Court of Appeals ruled in *Thein*, a trial court sitting in equity has some discretion in balancing the equities but it is not permitted to accept an "erroneously conducted" survey. *Thein*, 13 Wn. App. 761. Therefore, a trial court errs when it accepts a survey that is based on modern monuments and surveys and rejects a survey that is based on evidence establishing the original line. *Thein*, 13 Wn. App. at 762.

As argued to Division One here, *Thein* is on point with the present case. It was a timber trespass case where the property boundary was disputed. Id. Both parties offered surveys into evidence. The defendants' surveyor drew a boundary line based on another line established in a previously conducted but unrelated modern survey of the area. *Id.* at 762. The plaintiffs' surveyor reviewed original field notes and other evidence from the original 19th century government survey and found the boundary according to that evidence. *Id*. The trial court accepted the plaintiffs' survey and quieted title in the boundary accordingly. Division Two reversed, holding that a trial court errs when it relies on an "erroneously conducted" survey that relies on modern surveys and landmarks and does not attempt to establish the original government line. *Id.* at 762, 764-765.

Thein clarifies that even when a government marker or landmark has moved, a surveyor may not ignore evidence of that original monument and draw new lines based on modern monuments. *Id.* at 764 ("[T]he original government meander

line may be, and in this case is, the only available, credible evidence of the location of the perpendicular line which will produce the north 20 acres of the Government Lot.").

Division One of the Court of Appeals here explicitly rejected this decision by Division Two in *Thein*. Slip op. at 8-9. The decision attempts to distinguish *Thein* on the ground that the government's replacement marker, which stood in the place of the original marker, should be ignored as if it did not exist. *Id*. It also questions the evidentiary rule from *Staaf*, relied on in *Thein*, regarding priority of older monuments and original lines. *Id*. at 10.

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