FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/16/2023 4:55 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102485-1

(Court of Appeal No. 835661-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARK MCDONALD, an individual,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL STERN AND EMMA STERN, a married couple, Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP

Ryan C. Espegard, WSBA No. 41805
respegard@gth-law.com
Katie Chan, WSBA No. 56970
kchan@gth-law.com
520 Pike St., Suite 2350
Seattle, WA 98101
Attorneys for Respondent

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

VI. ARGUMENT

This Court will accept a petition for review only if (1) the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court, (2) the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with another published decision of the Court of Appeals, (3) a significant question of law under the Washington State Constitution of the United States Constitution is involved, or (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b). Because none of these four circumstances apply here, this Court should deny review.

A. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with prior decisions of this Court.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not err by quieting title in favor of McDonald. *McDonald*, 536 P.3d at 678. Stern argues that this holding conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Staaf v. Bilder*, 68 Wn.2d 800, 415 P.2d 650 (1966),

and *Rinehold v. Renne*, 198 Wn.2d 81, 492 P.3d 154 (2021). This Court should disagree.

In *Staaf*, this Court addressed a boundary dispute similar in nature to this case. Two neighbors disputed the location of a common lot line. The original plat that created the disputed lot line had substantial mathematical errors and discrepancies throughout the plat. 68 Wn.2d at 801. However, the western boundary of the plat (not the specific lots in dispute) was "a fairly reliable base line, it being a well monumented section line running to established section corners; surveyors usually commence their surveys from the southwest corner of tract 121, called the 'government quarter corner.'" Id. at 801. Although a government lot corner existed from which a surveyor could calculate where the disputed line should be placed, the Court determined "the question to be answered is not where new and modern survey methods will place the boundaries, but where did the original plat locate them." *Id.* at 803.

In Staaf, this Court articulated several principles that should be considered in resolving boundary disputes. Relevant here, courts resolving boundary disputes "should ascertain and carry out the intention of the original platters." *Id.* "The main purpose of a resurvey is to rediscover the boundaries according to the plat upon the best evidence obtainable and to retrace the boundary lines laid down in the plat." Id. More specifically, "the known monuments and boundaries of the original plat take precedence over other evidence and are of greater weight than other evidence of the boundaries not based on the original Finally, where there is Id. monuments and boundaries." discrepancy "between lines actually marked or surveyed on the ground and lines called for by plats, maps or field notes, the lines marked by survey on the ground prevail." *Id*.

Ultimately, this Court affirmed the trial court's decision to find the true location of the property line in dispute by accepting a metal pipe along the line in dispute to be a local monument previously installed by a surveyor as the best evidence of the location of the line as intended by the original platter. *Id.* at 801–03. This Court made this decision even though a nearby government lot corner existed from which the property line could have been calculated.

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly applied *Staaf*'s rule that the boundary line should be determined based on the totality of the best evidence obtainable. *McDonald*, 536 P.3d at 677. The best evidence regarding the location of the lot line between the Stern and McDonald properties is evidence of where the line was placed by surveyors of the Barsher and Hobbs plats in 1980 and 1981. *Id.* Again, local monuments around the Stern and McDonald properties align with their locations in the Barsher and Hobbs short plats. Additionally, structures, including Stern's own residence, are built in specific locations that correspond to the Property Line as marked in the short plats and reflected in Terrane's survey.

In contrast, the replacement corner marker for Government Lot 2 was not the best available evidence. The

original corner marker for Government Lot 2 was lost or obliterated.³ The Court of Appeals noted that determining the location of a missing corner in such cases "is a fact-intensive process; the trier of fact must render a decision upon a welter of conflicting highly technical bits and often of information." McDonald, 536 P.3d at 677 (quoting 18 WILLIAM B. STOEBUCK & JOHN W. WEAVER. WASHINGTON PRACTICE: **REAL** ESTATE: TRANSACTIONS § 13.4, at 96 (2nd ed. 2004). Here, Lanktree relied on a replacement monument that he could not confirm was in its proper location, and he "relied on no evidence purporting to reconstruct the location of a corner established in the original government survey." McDonald, 536 P.3d at 677. Thus, the Court of Appeals, citing *Staaf*, concluded that "Lanktree did not establish the monument associated with the corner of

Stern argues that the original monument was not "lost" and was instead replaced in its same location by a newer marker. This is a question of fact that was resolved at the trial court, and it is not appropriate to pose this question to the appellate courts. *See Garcia v. Henley*, 190 Wn.2d 539, 544, 415 P.3d 241 (2018) ("This court generally cannot make findings of fact."). Regardless, Lanktree admitted that the monument might not be in the original location and may have been displaced. RP 816-17.

government lot 2 coincided with the 'known' 'original' location of the corner." *Id*.

Stern also argues that the Court of Appeals "ruled that Staaf permits a platter to alter the location of a government survey line by simply drawing it in the wrong place on the plat," by suggesting that the Barsher and Hobbs short plats were "resurveys" of the Government Lot 2 line. Petition at 15-16. Stern's assertion is wildly inaccurate. The Barsher and Hobbs short plats are not resurveys, they are original surveys intending to depict newly subdivided lots for the first time. While the short plats reference the northern line of Government Lot 2, none of the newly subdivided lots abut the government lot line, and neither survey provides a full depiction of the government line. Furthermore, the trial court decision quieting title in this case did not establish the location of any government lot lines, it only established the location of a single common boundary line depicted on the parties' short plats.

In Rinehold, this Court considered whether a trial court erred by granting summary judgment in a boundary dispute. 198 Wn.2d at 90-91. The boundary line in dispute was created in the 1950s, and the prevailing party at the trial court relied on a survey that was conducted in 2015. *Id.* at 83, 85. The other party did not obtain or submit a survey but disputed the prevailing party's survey with language from the original deed from the 1950s. *Id.* at 86-87, 90. This Court held that the boundary line was wherever the original surveyor placed the boundary, and the original surveyor was the person who subdivided the lots at issue. *Id.* at 83. To determine that individual's intent, the Court needed to look to the original deed and plat map as well as modern retracement surveys. Id. at 95. This Court held that there was a genuine issue of material fact as to the original surveyor's intent because of an ambiguity in the language of the original deed. *Id.* at 96. Thus, this Court held that the trial court erred by granting summary judgment on that issue. Id. This Court emphasized that the modern surveyor's expert opinion could be presented at trial, but his expertise did "not allow him to usurp the jury's fact-finding role." *Id*.

Stern contends that the Court of Appeals declined to follow Rinehold's holding that known monuments and boundaries of the original surveyors are the best evidence, taking precedence over other evidence. Stern makes this argument by conflating the original survey of Government Lot 2 with the unknown subdivision that created the property line in question. Stern misleads this Court by stating that it is "undisputed that the 1860's-era government survey established the line in question." Petition at 14. However, the disputed property line is not a government lot line. It is an interior line of subdivision of the government lot and there is "no evidence of when or how parcels were divided establishing that line." McDonald, 536 P.3d at 675–76. Thus, even if the Government Lot 2 corner marker was an original rather than a replacement, it is not one of the "known monuments and boundaries of the *original plat*" that created the disputed property line that is the subject of this litigation.

Rinehold, 198 Wn.2d at 92 (emphasis added).

Under *Rinehold* the trial court was to place greater weight on known monuments and boundaries of the original plat that created the Property Line. The Court of Appeals ruled consistently with *Rinehold* when it did not elevate evidence of the replacement marker for the government lot above evidence of local monuments marking the lots in the Hobbs and Barsher short plats.

Because the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with this Court's other decisions in *Staaf* and *Rinehold*, this Court should decline to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with precedent from another Division.

Stern argues that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Division II of the Court of Appeals' decision in *Thein v. Burrows*, 13 Wn. App. 761, 537 P.2d 1064 (1975). This Court should disagree.

In *Thein*, Division II considered a timber trespass case involving a boundary dispute. *Id.* at 761. The original survey conveyed the lots at issue in terms of acreage along a river's meander line. *Id.* at 765. This meander line was the only available credible evidence of the boundary line in question. *Id.* at 764. One party submitted a modern survey based on the river's meander line at the time of the original survey, and the other party submitted a modern survey based on the river's new meander line. *Id.* at 763. The trial court accepted the survey that was based on the river's new meander line, and Division II reversed. *Id.* at 764-65. Division II emphasized *Staaf*'s rule that the intent of new surveys should be to ascertain where original surveyors placed boundaries rather than to determine where new and modern surveys would place them. Id. at 763.

Division II took great care to limit its holding and noted:

[I]n a case such as this, where the parcels of land have been conveyed in terms of acreage alone since the original government survey, we hold that the original government meander line must be used in determining the appropriate boundary lines of that parcel. We note, however, that this problem will seldom arise in most cases, where there typically are other aids, such as metes and bounds, courses and distances and natural or artificial monuments, available to aid in the location of the correct boundaries.

Id. at 765.

Thein does not apply to this case. The lots in question have never been "conveyed in terms of acreage alone"—thus, this case falls in *Thein*'s list of "most cases" where other descriptions and monuments are available to aid in locating the correct boundary. See id. To the extent that *Thein*'s principles do apply here, *Thein* simply emphasized that the correct boundary line is the boundary established by the "original surveyors." Id. at 763. Here, the original surveyors were the individuals who drew the boundary line between the Barsher and Hobbs plats. Indeed, these are the first individuals who could have any intent with respect to where the Property Line should be located. As detailed above, the Terrane survey properly relied on the best obtainable evidence to establish the intent of the "original surveyors" of the line in question. Thus, the Court of Appeals decision comports with *Thein*, and this Court should decline to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. This case does not involve any significant constitutional question of law or issue of substantial public interest.

Stern argues that this case involves significant constitutional questions of law and issues of substantial public interest. This Court should disagree.

Stern did not assert any constitutional claim at the trial court or at the Court of Appeals but now contends that the Court of Appeals decision allows takings in violation of article 1, § 16 of the Washington Constitution. Specifically, Stern contends that "[t]aking real property by conducting an erroneous resurvey, or by relying on a resurvey that set the wrong boundary line, is a taking." Petition at 23. Stern provides no argument or citation to authority supporting this statement. For this reason alone, Stern's contention fails. *See* RAP 13.4(c)(7) (petition for review

must include the reason(s) why review should be accepted, "with argument").

Further, as discussed above, the Court of Appeals decision does not allow the taking of property via erroneous resurveys or wrongly set boundary lines. Instead, the Court of Appeals decision exemplifies the proper application of established legal principles to boundary disputes.

Stern also argues that this case involves issues of substantial public interest. Stern asserts that "[a]llowing a trial court to simply credit an erroneous resurvey, thereby changing the deeded boundary without just compensation to the prior owner, should be a matter of concern to this Court and to every property owner in Washington." Petition at 23. Again, the Court of Appeals decision does not allow trial courts to rely on erroneous surveys or change deeded boundaries. Moreover, Stern provides no supporting argument for this statement and does not explain how a private property dispute between two neighbors constitutes an issue of substantial public interest. *See*

RAP 13.4(c)(7) (petition for review must include the reason(s) why review should be accepted, "with argument").

VII. CONCLUSION

Controlling law indicates that when determining the location of a disputed boundary line, the trial court should consider the best evidence obtainable to show the intent of the original platters or surveyors of the line, and that evidence of known monuments marked upon the land take priority over inconsistent lines called for in plat. The Court of Appeals applied these principles to this case and affirmed the trial court's conclusion that the best evidence regarding the location of the Property Line in this case was the evidence from the original surveys from the Barsher and Hobbs short plats that resulted in local monuments being placed around the properties, from which structures were built in reliance on those markers, including Stern's home.

Stern incorrectly argues that since the legal descriptions of both short plats reference the older north line of Government Lot 2, the Court must focus on the intent of the government surveyor who marked the government lot line 900 feet north of the Property Line. Stern's interpretation of the controlling law is nonsensical. If Sterns' argument were correct---that the government lot corner monument prevails over all other evidence---then local monuments placed to mark property lines would become unreliable. Stern's reasoning would allow new surveyors to recalculate previously marked property lines so long as an old government marker is available from which to perform the calculation. This directly contradicts the intent of the cases addressed above, which is to determine where property lines were originally placed---not where a new surveyor would place them.

The Court of Appeals properly relied on prior precedent and affirmed the trial court. This Court should deny Stern's petition for review.

This document contains 4,953 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.